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NOTICE OF COMMISSION DETERMINATION NOT TO REVIEW A FINAL
INITIAL DETERMINATION FINDING NO VIOLATION OF SECTION 337

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission,
ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission has
determined not to review the final initial determination (ID) issued by the presiding administrative
law judge (ALJ) on June 29, 1999, finding no violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930,
19 U.S.C. § 1337, in the above-captioned investigation. Accordingly, the Commission has
terminated the investigation with a finding of no violation of section 337.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Jean Jackson, Esq., Office of the General
Counsel, U.S. International Trade Commission, telephone 202-205-3104. General information
concerning the Commission may also be obtained by accessing its Internet server
(http://www.usitc.gov). Hearing-impaired persons are advised that information on the matter can
be obtained by contacting the Commission's TDD terminal on 202-205-1810.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: The Commission instituted this investigation of
allegations of unfair acts in violation of section 337 in the importation and sale of certain
mechanical lumbar supports on September 29, 1998. 63 Fed. Reg. 51949. The complaint alleged
that five respondents had infringed two claims of U.S. Letters Patent 5,518,294 (the ‘294 patent)
held by complainant McCord Winn Textron, Inc. (Textron) of Manchester, New Hampshire. The
notice of investigation named the following respondents: Schukra Manufacturing Inc. and
Schukra North America, Ltd., both of Canada, Schukra Berndorf GmbH of Austria, Schukra
Automobil-Erstausstatungs GmbH, Germany, and Schukra U.S.A. of Plymouth, Michigan. On
January 11, 1999, the Commission determined not to review an ID adding Advantage



Technologies, Inc. of Plymouth, Michigan as a respondent. An evidentiary hearing was held
March 22-26, 1999.

On June 29, 1999, the presiding ALJ issued her final ID, finding no violation of section
337, based on her finding that respondents were not infringing the asserted patent claims. On
July 12, 1999, complainant petitioned for review of the claim construction and infringement
issues. Also on that date, respondents filed a contingent petition for review of the issues of
patent validity and unenforceability to be considered in the event that the Commission reviewed
the claim construction and infringement issues. The Commission investigative attorney (IA) did
not file a petition for review. On July 19, 1999, complainant, respondents, and the IA filed
responses to the petitions for review.

Having reviewed the record in this investigation, including the parties’ written
submissions, the Commission determined not to review the ID or ALJ Order No. 41.

This action is taken under the authority of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, 19
U.S.C. § 1337, and section 210.42 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, 19
CFR. §210.42.

Copies of the public version of the ID, and all other nonconfidential documents filed in
connection with this investigation, are or will be available for inspection during official business
hours (8:45 a.m. to 5:15 p.m.) in the Office of the Secretary, U.S. International Trade
Commission, 500 E Street S.W., Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone 202-205-2000.

D R Faihte

Donna R. Koehnke
Secretary

By order of the Commission.

Issued: August 17, 1999
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I. Procedural Background

McCord Winn Textron, Inc. ("Textron"), a Massachusetts Corporation, filed a complaint
on August 19, 1998, amended on September 14, 1998, and supplemented on September 16,
1998, under 19 U.S.C. § 1337 ("Section 337") based on the alleged importation into the United
States, the sale for importation, and the sale within the United States after importation of certain
mechanical lumbar supports and products containing same by a number of proposed respondents.
The Commission issued its Notice of Investigation on September 23, 1998, instituting this
Section 337 investigation concerning Textron’s allegations of infringement of Claims 15 and 16
of United States Patent 5,518, 294 ("the ‘294 Patent") owned by Textron, as well as Textron’s
claim of the requisite domestic industry. The Commission named Textron as the Complainant
and Schukra Manufacturing, Inc. ("Schukra Manufacturing"),' Schukra of North America, Ltd.
("Schukra N.A."), Schukra U.S.A,, Inc. ("Schukra U.S.A."), Schukra Berndorf GmbH ("Schukra
Berndorf") and Schukra Automobil-Erstausstatungs Gmbl1 ("Schukra Auto") as the
Respondents. Subsequently, Textron on December 6, 1998, filed a motion to amend the Notice
of Investigation to add Advantage Technologies, Inc. ("Advantage") as a Respondent. The
motion was granted by an initial determination issued on December 16, 1998, which the
Commission, on January 11, 1999, decided not to review. Textron requests relief in the form of
a limited exclusion order, a reporting requirement and a cease and desist order.

By Order No. 3, issued October 13, 1998, a target date of September 29, 1999, for
completion of the investigation was established. All parties made appearances at a Preliminary
Conference on November 10, 1998, at which time a procedural schedule was set. By motion
filed February 19, 1999, the Respondents moved for partial summary determination, which
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motion was dismissed by Order No. 41 as untimely.

The hearing in this matter commenced on March 22, 1999 and concluded on March 26,
1999. All parties were represented at the hearing. Subsequent to the hearing, initial and reply
briefs, proposed initial and reply Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law, comments to the
initial Findings and Conclusions, and statements regarding key factual issues were filed by the
parties. These submissions have been fully considered in reaching this decision and any
omission of a discussion of an issue raised by the parties or of a portion of the record does not
indicate that it has not beén considered. Rather, such issues and/or portions of the record were
found to be irrelevant, immaterial and/or without merit. Additionally, any objections which may
not have been ruled on to date and which may remain outstanding are hereby denied.
II. Claim Construction

The proper analysis of Textron"s infringement charges involves a two-step process: first,
construction of the claims asserted to determine their meaning and scope, and second,

comparison of the properly construed claims to the accused products. See Tanabe Seivaku Co. v.

U.S. Int’] Trade Comm’n, 109 F.3d 726 (Fed Cir.), cert. denied, 118 S.Ct. 624 (1997); Markman

v. Westview Instruments, Inc., 52 F.3d 967, 976 (Fed. Cir. 1995) (en banc), aff’d, 517 U.S. 370

(1996). As to the first step, the meaning and scope of patent claims should be determined with
reference to the claim language, the specification, and the prosecution history. Extrinsic
evidence outside the record before the Patent and Trademark Office ("PTO"), such as expert
testimony about how those skilled in the art would interpret certain language in the claim, may
also be considered when appropriate as an inherent part of the process of claim construction and

as an aid in arriving at the proper construction of the claim. Tanabe, 109 F.3d at 732; Markman,
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52 F.3d at 979. Claim language should be construed according to its usual meaning to one of
ordinary skill in the art where such construction is consistent with the specification. Multiform

Dessicants, Inc. v. Medzam, Ltd., 133 F.3d 1473, 1477 (Fed. Cir. 1998). A patentee, however,

acting as "his own lexicographer," may give terms an unusual meaning so long as the
specification or prosecution history clearly conveys the atypical definition. Hoechst Celanese

Corp. v. BP Chem. L.td., 78 F.3d 1575, 1578 (Fed. Cir. 1996).

Claim 15 of the ‘294 Patent (subparts lettered below for ease of reference) teaches the
following;:
15. A back support for use within a seatback, comprising:

15(a) a unitary flexible support member including a central body portion
having a longitudinal axis and first and second longitudinal ends,
and a plurality of support fingers extending outwardly from said
central body portion in a direction generally perpendicular to said
longitudinal axis of said central body portion;

15(b)- said support fingers each have a folded perimeter and a rounded
end distal from said central body portion and project generally
forward from a plane generally defined by said central body
portion when said support member is in a relaxed position such
that said rounded end on each said support finger is forward of said
plane;

15(c) said first longitudinal end baving a clamping member adapted to be
rotatably attached to a bar on a seatback wherein said back support
is employed,

15(d) said second longitudinal end having a holding member adapted to
slidably and pivotally couple said second end to a second portion
of the seatback; and

15(c) wherein said central body portion said clamping member and said
holding member are integrally formed from a single piece of
material.



Claim 16 of the ‘294 Patent (subparts lettered below for ease of reference) teaches the

following;

16. A back support for use within a seatback, comprising:

16(a) a unitary flexible support member including a central body portion

having a longitudinal axis and first and second longitudinal ends,
and a plurality of support fingers extending outwardly from said
central body portion in a direction generally perpendicular to said
longitudinal axis of said central body portion;

16(b) said first longitudinal end having a pair of clamping members
projecting away from said central body portion and having
opposite clamping surfaces such that said clamping members are
adapted to rotatably engage a bar on the seatback wherein said
back support is employed;

16(c) said second longitudinal end having a holding member adapted to
slidably and pivotally couple said second end to a second portion
of the seatback;

16(d) wherein said central body portion, said clamping member and said
holding member are integrally formed from a single piece of

- material.

The two asserted claims have identical preambles, and they share some common claim
language, which will be addressed together where appropriate. With respect to many of the
claim terms, the parties offer little evidence as to their meaning, in tacit acknowledgment that
such terms should be accorded their ordinary, plain meaning to a layperson. No party disputes
that the identical preambles of Claims 15 and 16 call for a back support that includes, at least, the
elements set forth in their respective claim limitations. See Genentech, Inc. v. Chiron Corp., 112
F.3d 495, 501 (Fed. Cir. 1997) ("Comprising is a term of art used in claim language which means

that the named elements are essential, but other elements may be added and still form a construct

within the scope of the claim").



A. 15(a) and 16(a)

As to the identical claim limitations set forth in 15(a) and 16(a), the parties generally
agree that the claim language is straightforward and can be accorded its plain meaning. They
jointly clarify that the "unitary flexible support member" described therein refers not to
construction from a single piece of material, but rather to components or otherwise separate parts
that function together.

B. 15(b)

Subpart 15(b) of Claim 15 describes the characteristics and spatial configuration of the
support fingers that, according to 15(a), extend outward from the central body portion. While the
parties agree that most of the claim language requires no special interpretation, some contention
surrounds the meaning and application of the "folded perimeter" of each of the support fingers,
and the meaning of the statement that they "project generally forward." Textron contends that
"... any perimeter that is bent, angled, curved or rolled back away from the forward projection of
the fingers so as to avoid wear to the seat cushion" qualifies as a "folded perimeter" under 15(b).
Complainant’s Initial Brief at 13. Textron relies for support on a dictionary definition of "fold,"
on a reference by the ‘294 Patent examiner to the "folded perimeter" as "rolled edges," and on the
purpose set forth in the patent specification for the "bent peripheral edges" - to enhance comfort
and decrease wear on the seat cushion. See CX 1, Col. 3, lines 15-19. In response to testimony
by the Respondents’ expert, Dr. Eagle, that "fold" is a term of art referring to an operation
performed only on metal, Textron insists that the "folded perimeter" limitation does not limit the
device described in the ‘294 Patent to metal material to the exclusion of plastic. Textron
highlights the statement in the ‘294 Patent specification that "...the back support could be made
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of other materials, such as for example injection molded or thermoformed plastic." CX 1, Col. 6,
lines 54-57. Also, Textron asserts that the ‘294 Patent is not a process patent, such that Claim 15
merely teaches the folded shape, not the method or manner of arriving at that shape. As to
"perimeter," Textron argues that it necessarily refers to "more than just the ‘tip’ or ‘end’ of the
finger." Textron Initial Brief at 13. Textron points to the distinction in the specification between
a reference to "bent ends" and the reference to the folded perimeter as bent "peripheral edges" as
an indication that the perimeter must include more than just the end. See CX 1, Col. 5, lines 44-
46; Col. 3, lines 13-15.

The Respondents contend that "folded" means "bent," and stress their position that the
"perimeter" need only include some of the perimeter of each support finger, but not necessarily
include all of it. Citing Figures 2 and 3 of the ‘294 Patent and the testimony of Textron’s expert,
Mr. Smith, the Respondents assert that the bent peripheral edging disclosed in the ‘294 Patent
does not extend completely around the perimeter, as inner "neck-like" portions are not bent. As
to Textron’s relianf:e on the distinction between "bent ends" and "peripheral edges," the
Respoﬁdents note that the specification refers to "bent ends" only in connection with the non-
preferred embodiment, while the discussion of the preferred embodiment makes no reference to
them and does not distinguish between them and "peripheral edges." Similarly, in disputing
Textron’s assertion that "folded" can apply to plastic as well as metal, the Respondents contend
that the specification passage cited by Textron for support pertains only to the non-preferred
embodiment which allegedly is "unpatentable."

The Staff takes the position that "folded perimeter" means that "a substantial portion of
the outside edge of two or more of the support fingers are bent in the opposite direction of the
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torward projection of the fingers." Staff Initial Brief at 11-12. The Staff agrees with Textron that
“folded" should not be construed as limited only to the operation performed on sheet metal, in
light of the specification teaching as to the breadth of possible construction materials.

In the context of Claim 15, "folded" should be construed as "bent" or "rolled". Textron
cites definitions of "fold" in The New Shorter Oxford English Dictionary, vol. 1 at 991 (1993),
that include "[d]ouble or bend" and causing to "undergo bending or curvature", and I note that
these common definitions are consistent with the patent examiner’s paraphrase of this claim
element as "rolled edges". See CX 2 at 98, 115. Accordingly, in keeping with this
characterization in the prosecution history, this interpretation of "folded" is adopted. As to the
parties’ divergence regarding whether the "folded" claim language teaches a limitation of
material type to sheet metal, I must conclude that the ‘294 Patent conveys no such limitation.
Nothing in the plain language of Claim 15 directly communicates a requirement of material type.
The expert testimony at the hearing differed regarding how one skilled in the art would interpret
"folded" in this context, with the Respondents’ expert indicating its applicability exclusively to
sheet metal, and the Complainant’s expert giving a conflicting, broader view that in the ‘294
Patent, the word connotes no particular type of construction material. Eagle, Tr. at 855; Smith,
Tr. at 204. Most significantly, the patent itself dispels an interpretation of "folded" requiring the
support fingers to be made of sheet metal by stating in the specification that a lumbar support
embodying the patent could be made of "other materials, such as for example injection molded or
thermoformed plastic." CX 1, Col. 6, lines 55-57. The Respondents attempt to overcome this
disclosure because it refers to a non-preferred embodiment they claim is unpatentable, but this
distinction fails to negate that the specification is part of the ‘294 Patent and serves as one of the
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most important guides to construing the claim language. See Standard Qil Co. v. Am. Cyanamid
Co., 774 F.2d 448, 452 (Fed. Cir. 1985) ("The specification is, thus, the primary basis for
construing the claims ...."). The specification thus makes clear that "folded" must be interpreted
in accordance with its common definition, "bent" or "rolled" as the special meaning advocated by
the Respondents would improperly create an inconsistency between Claim 15 and the patent
specification. See CX 1, Col. 3, lines 14-16 ("The peripheral edges 82 of support fingers 80 are
bent back slightly relative to the forward projection of the support fingers").!

Additionally, it is my judgment that "perimeter"”, in the context of the ‘294 Patent, refers
to most or all of the outer edge of the support fingers. While no party disputes that "perimeter" is
defined as the outer edge, they disagree on how much of the outer edge must be folded, according
to Claim 15. While the Respondents argue that neither Claim 15 nor the specification requires
that the whole perimeter be folded, I also note that neither source states that only a portion or part
of the perimeter is folded. Though the Respondents point out that the Complainant’s expert
conceded that one of the figures in the ‘294 Patent shows that the support fingers have relatively
small areas of non-folded perimeter, where the fingers connect to the central body portion,

Smith, Tr. at 1006-1007, I conclude that this minimal portion of non-folded perimeter exists
only for the functionality of merging the support fingers into the central body portion, whose

edges are not bent.

! Acceptance of the meaning advanced by Respondents in their Initial Brief would also
be inconsistent with their equating of "round edges" with "folded perimeter" regarding an
asserted derivation defense in their Pre-Hearing Brief. See Respondents’ Prehearing-Brief at 79,
(" .... ‘teaching of rounding edges’ communicated in the Miner letter teaches the folded or bent
perimeter embodied by Claim 15 of the ‘294 Patent").
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Turning to the "project generally forward" language, Textron emphasizes that the ‘294
Patent is silent as to the degree to which the fingers must angle forward, such that any angling
forward "however slight" should satisfy this claim element. The Staff similarly contends that
"project generally forward" "merely requires that the rounded distal end of two or more support
fingers be forward of the plane generally defined by the central body portion in its relaxed
position." Staff Initial Brief at 13, 28. The Staff relies on the plain language of the claim, and
also points out that one of the inventors, Stephen Porter, testified that no particular angle was
intended. See Porter, Tr. at 146. The Respondents argue that the fingers must project forward
enough to bring about the desired result expressed in the specification description of the
preferred embodiment, to "yield greater lateral support for a user and to enhance the comfort
provided by the inventive back support." See CX 1, Col. 3, lines 11-14. They insist that minimal

forward angling that provides no functional benefit falls outside the scope of this claim language.

Citing Electro Medical Systems, S.A. v. Cooper Life Sciences, Inc., 34 F.3d 1048, 1054 (Fed.
Cir. 1994) ("[p]articular embodiments appearing in a specification will not be read into the
claims when the claim language is broader than such embodiments"), Textron counters that the
Respondents improperly seek to have limitations from the specification read into the more
expansive claim.

I agree with Textron’s and the Staff’s assessments that the "project generally forward"
element of Claim 15 refers to any angling forward of the support fingers. Where the claim itself
teaches in plain language merely indicating a forward projection without any requirement as to

the degree thereof, it would not be appropriate to add any other limitation, or to import any

limitation from the specification. See Electro Medical, 34 F.3d at 1054. Furthermore, even the
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limitation the Respondents seek to have read into the claim from the specification does not
necessarily negate minimal angling, as the specification leaves the precise degree of angling
necessary for the stated purpose ambiguous and open to question. In this regard, I note that the
Respondents failed to cite to any expert testimony that minimal angling would not achieve the
functional benefits of greater lateral support and enhanced comfort set forth in the specification.

C. 15(c) and 16(b)

Subparts 15(c) and 16(b) refer to a "clamping member" and "a pair of clamping
members", respectively, that are adapted to rotatably attach to or rotatably engage a bar on the
seatback. Textron asserts that the "clamping member" must merely attach the back support to the
bar while allowing rotation at the first longitudinal end: "Thus, the ‘clamping member’ must join
or connect the first longitudinal end to a bar on the seatback in a way that results in turning about
an axis when the back support is engaged." Textron Initial Brief at 17. Textron notes that
nothing in the patent precludes other types of movement in addition to rotation, such as sliding,
at the first longitudinal end. According to Textron, the "clamping member" allows for a snap-on

or snap fit to the bar on the seatback. Textron further argues that the prosecution history?

*The patent examiner rejected claims using the "clamping member" language other than
those claims that ultimately issued as Claims 15 and 16 based on obviousness in light of two
other patents. The patent examiner noted that a hinge disclosed in one of these other patents,
U.S. Patent No. 3,762,769 ("Poschl “769 Patent™) could qualify as a "clamping member" "absent
any further structural description” of the "clamping member" in the claims. What became Claim
16 of the 294 Patent, which sets forth "clamping members", but also refers to "projecting away
from said central body portion" and "opposing clamping surfaces", and Claim 15 of the ‘294
Patent, which sets forth a "clamping member" without referring to additional structural
definition, were not rejected by the patent examiner. While Textron relies on Claim 16's "further
structural definition" to argue that the hinge of the Poschl ‘769 Patent cannot qualify as the
clamping member(s) taught by Claim 16 and Claim 15, Claim 15's lack of further structural

(continued...)
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supports its construction of "clamping member." Textron stresses that "clamping member" does
not suggest or require compressive force, arguing that the term "compressive force " is extrinsic
to the claim, the specification and the prosecution history and noting as support the Respondents’
position that the hinge on their "Model Q" device (RPX 3) constitutes a clamping member.
According to Textron, which points to no supporting expert testimony, the hinge lacks the
exertion of compressive force on the hinge pin.

The Respondents maintain that "[t|he ordinary meaning to one skilled in the mechanical
arts of a ‘clamping member’ is a device which firmly grips or clasps another object by exertion
of forces mutually upon opposite sides of an object." Respondents’ Initial Brief at 12. They
insist that compressive force is an element of clamping, but point out that in the context of the
294 Patent, the compression must still allow for the clamping member’s rotation around the
clamped object. The Respondents argue that a "rotatably attached" "clamping member" cannot
just loosely confine the movement of the clamped object "without exerting firm gripping action
on the object." Respondents’ Initial Brief at 13-14. In addition, the Respondents point out that
the "clamping member" cannot be identical to the "holding member" at the opposite end, since
the claims at issue employ these different terms for their respective connections, and therefore
the terms connote different types of connections. As to the "rotétably attached" limitation of the
claims, the Respondents contend that it requires the rotation of the clamping member around the

bar, as the fixed, non-moving axis of rotation. Textron disagrees that the bar must be the axis of

4

%(...continued)
definition belies Textron’s argument. The Respondents and the Staff argue in response that for
purposes of Claim 15, a hinge can be a "clamping member".
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rotation, arguing that imposing such a requirement improperly reads a limitation into the claims.
Again, the Respondents also make the argument that the use of "rotatably" as to the attachment at
one end, as opposed to the use of "slidably and pivotally" as to the coupling at the other end,
indicates a distinction between the nature of the attachments at each end.

According to the Staff, a "clamping member" refers to "... a member that is constructed in
such a way that it can exert compressive force upon an object", but that the compressive force
still allows for the rotation movement of the "clamping member". Staff Initial Brief at 14.

The Staff asserts that its position is consistent with the prosecution history indicating the
examiner’s view that the "clamping member" set forth in Claim 15 could be satisfied by the

hinge in the Poschl ‘769 Patent. However, as distinguished from the Respondents’ view, the
Staff indicates that the bar to which the "clamping member" is attached need not serve as the axis
of rotation for the "clamping member". Furthermore, the Staff argues for a construction that does
not require that the "clamping member" be "rotatably attached" at all times.

As to the "clamping members" of Claim 16, which offers additional description over that
given in Claim 15, Textron notes that their "projccting away" means only that they "stand out" or
"protrude" from the central body portion in any direction. The Staff seems to concur,
maintaining that they must be "directed away from the central body portion at an unspecified
angle". Staff Initial Brief at 21. The Respondents contend that this limitation implicitly requires
that the central body portion be "physically spaced and separated from the pivot bar where the
clamping members make rotatable attachment", such that the "clamping members jut out and
extend in a longitudinal direction away from the central body to a displaced location where the
clamped connection is made onto a bar." Respondents’ Initial Brief at 25. The "opposite
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clamping surfaces" set forth in Claim 16 do not, according to Textron, need to engage the bar at
the same time. The Respondents, on the other hand, insist that the "opposite clamping surfaces"
are implicit to any clamping member, and simultaneously grip a common bar from opposing
sides. The Staff merely maintains that the opposite surfaces each have the capacity to exert
compressive force on the bar, and notes that a snap-on attachment could fall within its
construction.

The parties further disagree, with respect to the references to "a bar" in Claims 15 and 16,
as to whether, as the Respondents contend, this necessarily means only one bar, or whether, as
Textron and the Staff contend, this means one or more bars. The Respondents rely on the
interplay between "rotatably attached" and "a bar" to argue that this refers to the use of "a singlc,
fixed bar ... as the pivot for the clamping member." Respondents’ Initial Brief at 15. Also,
Textron, citing the statement in the specification that the bars in the preferred embodiment are
"preferably horizontally disposed", maintains that these claims set forth no restriction on the
configuration of the bar, such as whether it lies horizontally or vertically. As further support for
this position, Textron notes that Claim 1 of the ‘294 Patent specifically teaches "horizontally
disposed bars", such that this restriction should not be read into another claim that does not
expressly include it.

As to the "clamping member" taught by Claim 15, T conclude that it refers to one or more
devices exerting a pressure grip or compressive force as its or their means of attaching to the bar,

in accordance with the plain meaning of "clamping". See Merriam Webster’s Collegiate

Dictionary, 10® ed. at 210 ("clamp [verb]: To fasten with or as with a clamp ..."; "clamp [noun):

2

1 : a device designed to bind or constrict or to press two or more parts together so as to hold them
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firmly; 2: any of various instruments or appliances having parts brought together for holding or
compressing something"); Oxford English‘Dictionam Shorter Version ("clamp [verb]: To make
fast with a clamp or clamps"; "clamp [noun]: 1. a brace, clasp, or band, usually of rigid material,
used for strengthening or fastening things together ... 2. a name of appliances with opposite parts
which may be brought together, so as to seize, hold, compress or pinch anything ...."); Eagle Tr.

at 865. Textron’s argument against construing "clamping" to involve compressive force runs

contrary to the plain meaning of the claim language. York Prods., Inc. v. Central Tractor Farm &

Family Ctr., 99 F.3d 1568, 1572 (Fed. Cir. 1996) ("Without an express intent to impart a novel
meaning to claim terms, an inventor’s claim terms take on their ordinary meaning"). As to
Textron’s reference to the Respondents’ allegedly inconsistent positions on a hinge as a
“clamping member" and whether compressive force is exerted, I find no inconsistency between
the Respondents’ positions. While the patent examiner’s statement that the "hinge" on the
Poschl ‘769 Patent could qualify as a "clamping member" absent further structural description of
that term indicates that that hinge exerts the requisite compressive force as the means of
attachment to the bar, the "hinge" described and pictured in the Poschl ‘769 Patent may differ in
its structure and installation from other hinges.

The "clamping member" of Claim 15 must be "adapted to be" "rotatably attached" to a
bar on the seatback. The "adapted to be" language of the claim merely indicates that the claim is
not limited to a particular structure, but rather to any structure appropriate for the specified use.

See Rohm & Haas Co. v. Crystal Chem Co., 722 F.2d 1556 (Fed. Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 469

U.S. 851 (1984) ("The use of functional language to claim an invention is specifically approved
by statute, the patent office and the courts, particularly where, as here, it is obviously
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impossible to enumerate all possible combinations of weeds, crops and application rates of
propanil which will produce the recited useful selective post-emergence activity"). The
Respondents argue that "adapted to be" teaches the possible addition of an adapter device to
attach the "clamping member". This argument must be rejected as otherwise inconsistent with
the plain language of the patent claim, as inconsistent with the conventional use of such
"adapted" language, and as noted by the Staff, as inconsistent with the patentees’ representations
in the prosecution history that "[t]he clamping member is for rotatably <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>